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	MICHAEL K. HOPE, 

                                     Employee, 

                                     Respondent,

                                                   v. 

REDI ELECTRIC INC,

                                    Employer,

                                    Petitioner,

                                                   and 

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO.,
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DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200511005
AWCB Decision No.  08-0212
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on November  21, 2008


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard Employer Redi Electric’s (Redi) “Petition to Join Employer Alcan Electric” (Alcan) on October 16, 2008 at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Chancy Croft represented Employee.   Attorney Patricia Zobel represented Employer Redi and its insurer.  Attorney Joseph Copper represented Employer Alcan and its insurer.  The record closed at the hearing’s conclusion.  We entered oral orders at the hearing and we modify, and formalize, those orders here.


ISSUES

1) Should we grant Redi's petition to join Alcan as a party pursuant to 8 AAC 45.040?

2) If so, should we also continue the November 4, 2008 hearing pursuant 8 AAC 45.074?

3) Should we sua sponte grant other relief pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g), §135, or §155(d)?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
Employee Michael Hope at age 23 fell from a ceiling on June 28, 2005 while at work for Redi and injured himself.
  The extent of his injuries is in dispute in this case.

Employee’s pre-injury medical history:  Employee has a fairly innocuous history of lower back pain and migraines.
  He saw a chiropractor several times in 2004 for adjustments for constant, dull, throbbing low back pain without radicular symptoms.  An x-ray taken July 26, 2004, showed early, lower lumbar spine degenerative disc disease, small and plate irregularities in segments of the mid-thoracic spine indicative of early degenerative disc disease, and left thoracolumbar “list” with cervical lordosis with anterior weight-bearing and a “right list.”
  Medical records from Chugach Chiropractic Clinic show a complaint of lower back pain on May 20, 2005.
  Unidentified medical records show a complaint of lower right lumbar pain on May 22, 2005.
  

Employee’s post-injury medical history:  Employee reported an injury on June 28, 2005.  Redi's vice president completed the “Report of Occupational Injury or Illness” because Employee was taken to the emergency room.  Employee reportedly fell from a ceiling cavity, injuring his back, hip, and left elbow while employed as an apprentice electrician for Redi.  Redi did not doubt his injury.
  

An ambulance transported Employee to the hospital.  The ambulance report states Employee was climbing out of a ceiling onto a ladder after doing some electrical work and a 2 x 4 support he was on broke and he fell about 8 feet to the floor.  The medics noted complaints of pain in the midline spine, lumbar area, and left shoulder.

Employee was seen at Alaska Regional Hospital emergency room (ER) that same date and complained of falling about 12 feet onto the concrete while at work.  Employee's main complaint was the left side of his body.  He had no loss of consciousness, worked as an electrician, and was at work when the injury occurred.  He complained of no neck pain but complained of some low back and pelvis pain on the left side.  He denied any other extremity pain but had pain in his left shoulder and elbow.

On examination, Employee's head was reportedly atraumatic; his neck was mildly tender to palpation and range of motion and he was given a cervical collar; there was no thoracic spine tenderness; there was mild tenderness in the lower lumbar spine.  He had mild tenderness over his left pelvis and a small laceration over his left elbow.  The differential diagnoses included: cervical spine injury, paracervical sprain, lumbar sprain, lumbar strain, left pelvic fracture, left hip contusion, and a small, left elbow laceration.  On further evaluation, cervical, pelvic, and lumbar spine x-rays were all negative.
  The ER physician determined Employee suffered a paracervical strain, right lumbar strain, left hip contusion, and a left elbow laceration.

Employer paid temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from July 1, 2005 through July 5, 2005.
   

Employee sought care on referral from the ER with Jane Simono, M.D. at U.S. Health Works, Inc.
   Dr. Simono diagnosed a left lumbar contusion and said Employee could return to work on July 1, 2005.
  On July 5, 2005, Dr. Simono saw him again and gave Employee Skelaxin.
  He complained of pain while going upstairs and did not go to work that day.  Employee was going upstairs at home and his “left leg gave out.”  His pain now “radiated” into the left leg at times.  On examination, the straight leg raising test caused pain that radiated “partly into the thigh.”  Dr. Simono diagnosed a left lumbar contusion and gave him a note stating he could do light duty work for the rest of the week with reevaluation on July 8, 2005.
  

By July 8, 2005, Employee reported his lumbar region was getting better; he was now able to climb a ladder.  Employee's July 9, 2005 pain diagram shows symptoms radiating from the buttock region into both lower extremities.
 

Dr. Simono released Employee to full duty starting July 11, 2005 with follow-up as needed.
  On August 8, 2005, while apparently still employed by Redi, Employee returned to Dr. Simono for follow up.  Employee reported he thought he was doing well but recently tried getting back into activities including tae kwon do and noticed pain especially while squatting or bending.   Employee complained of pain in the left lumbar area and popping in the shoulder blades, which he had not ever noticed in the past.  He recalled having minimal shoulder tenderness after his work-related injury.   Employee reported his symptoms seemed to resolve until recently.  Dr. Simono diagnosed a bilateral shoulder strain and left lumbar strain and referred Employee to physical therapy (PT) for further evaluation and treatment.  He did not request any further pain medications.
  

On August 9, 2005, Employee saw Alaska Physical Therapy Specialists with a diagnosis of left lumbar and upper back strain.   Employee gave his therapist a history of having injured his back about one year earlier during a twisting and lifting maneuver.  He reported seeking chiropractic treatment and reportedly stated that he never recovered to his previous level.  Employee also reported having fallen from a 12 foot high ceiling, reinjuring his back and left shoulder.  He was having symptoms similar to his initial back injury pain.   Forward bending, prolonged standing, and “slumping” aggravated his symptoms.  His pain “now radiates laterally across his low back and now down the posterior aspect of both legs.”  Employee also complained of mid-thoracic pain, which he related to his fall.  He displayed pain radiating into the hamstrings slightly, bilaterally, with the straight leg raising test.  He had a positive “Slump test” in the right and left lower extremities.  After evaluating Employee, therapist Chris Wilson assessed a possible L5-S1 facet cartilage inflammation problem because of a hypermobile L5 segment.
  Employee attended about six PT sessions.

On February 1, 2006, Employee reported to Dr. Simono for a DOT physical he needed for his union education.  As of his February 1, 2006 examination, Employee denied any medical complaints but mentioned his history of falling at work approximately 12 feet and said he had some back problems.  Dr. Simono completed his DOT medical examination report and noted the history of the fall without any neurological loss.
  Employee then had a hiatus in his medical treatment.

About seven months later on August 28, 2006, Employee returned to See Dr. Simono requesting more PT for his back.  Dr. Simono noted Employee did not improve with the previous PT as expected and had terminated it.  See noted therapist Chris Wilson was going to refer him back to Dr. Simono but Employee “stopped that therapy.”  His back remained stiff especially in the mornings and he was getting sciatica down the right leg daily.  He felt he was developing more pain on the left side and wanted another PT referral.  On physical examination, Employee was tender to palpation in the lower lumbar centrally.  There was no significant tenderness to palpation laterally and his straight leg raising test was negative.  He was able to do a full knee bend and had no numbness in the lower extremities.  Dr. Simono assessed low back pain and suggested an HLA B27 antigen test
 to rule out rheumatoid arthritis.   If Employee did not show improvement with PT, Dr. Simono suggested getting a lumbar MRI.
  The antigen tests proved negative.
  

Employee returned to Alaska Physical Therapy Specialists on September 12, 2006.  He reported having been almost pain free following his first course of PT but now returned with recurrent low back pain and spasm which had redeveloped in the last two months.  His pain radiated laterally across his low back and now down the posterior aspect of both legs.  Therapist Wilson performed an evaluation and his assessment included a possible lumbar herniated nucleus pulposus at L5-S1 versus L4-5.  He noted “chronic” symptoms of discitis and radiculopathy.
  Dr. Simono concurred with Mr. Wilson's evaluation.
  By October 9, 2006, therapist Wilson noted Employee was not responding well to PT, and suggested a localized injection.

On October 10, 2006, Dr. Simono referred Employee to HealthSouth for a lumbar MRI.  He remained released to full duty work.
   The MRI showed a herniation to the right of midline at L4-5 that extended into the lateral recess and somewhat compressed the transiting L5 nerve root.  At L5-S1 there was a large protrusion probably representing an extruded fragment extending into the lateral recess on the right and compressing the displaced S-1 nerve root.  There was also a component that extended to the left which slightly displaced the compressed, left nerve.
   

On November 2, 2006, Dr. Simono replied to a Nova Pro faxed message and said the recent treatment was still related to the June 28, 2005 work-related injury.
  

Dr. Simono referred Employee to Larry Kropp, M.D. on October 13, 2006.
  Dr. Kropp’s reports state he is a fellowship trained Interventional Pain Specialist, a Diplomat, American Board of Anesthesiology, and a Diplomat, Subspecialty Pain Management, ABA.
  On November 8, 2006, Dr. Kropp evaluated Employee and found “classic” L5 symptoms down the posterior aspect of his right leg and limited Employee to lifting no more than 20 pounds until cleared by his office.  Dr. Kropp noted mainly L5 symptoms but also found Employee had a herniation at L4-5.  He was concerned about Employee's leg weakness, so Dr. Kropp obtained a nerve conduction study which showed a loss of productivity on the left side, even though his symptoms were worse on the right. Dr. Kropp suggested a transforaminal steroid injection at L5 bilaterally.

On November 9, 2006, Dr. Kropp performed a transforaminal steroid injection at L5 on the right and left.
  Several days later, Employee reported no relief from these injections.  Consequently, Dr. Kropp suggested a transforaminal steroid injection at L4.  If that injection failed, Dr. Kropp would consider discography and inter-discal reduction.
   Effective November 30, 2006, Dr. Kropp removed Employee from work until February 1, 2007.
  Dr. Kropp performed the transforaminal steroid injection at L4 on the right and left on December 14, 2006.
  Redi paid TTD from November 30, 2006 through December 31, 2006.  Benefits ceased on January 1, 2007, purportedly because Employee was released to modified work on that date.

Redi’s adjuster faxed a message to Dr. Simono requesting further information and advising that Employee's employment with Redi had ended on September 2, 2005.  She questioned why continuing care and treatment was still related to the June 28, 2005 injury.  Dr. Simono responded on December 15, 2006, stated it was still related, and noted Employee had been waiting for the pain to improve before further evaluation.  Employee had denied further trauma to his back during that intervening year.

Employee followed up with Dr. Kropp after his last injection.  Apparently, Employee did not get any relief from the L4 block.  Having become convinced the pain was from the L5 disc extrusion, Dr. Kropp suggested percutaneous endoscopic discectomy to remove the disc fragment.
  

Employee saw Dr. Simono again on January 18, 2007.  She reviewed the situation and agreed with Dr. Kropp's suggestion for surgery.  Dr. Simono felt it was in Employee's “best interest” to follow through with his recommendation.
  She restricted Employee from all work effective January 18, 2007.
  Dr. Kropp subsequently restricted Employee from work from February 22, 2007 through March 19, 2007.
  On January 22, 2007, Dr. Kropp stated Employee was not medically stable and needed surgery for an extruded disk.
  Dr. Simono agreed with Dr. Kropp's assessment and signed a similar letter on January 24, 2007.

Redi sent Employee to an EME
 with Dr. Schilperoort on February 19, 2007, who states he reviewed less than half an inch of medical records.  Employee's chief complaints were low back and right lower extremity pain.  Employee described his injury while falling from the ceiling; he estimated he fell approximately 12 feet because he was a couple of feet higher than the top of the 10 foot ladder he had been using.  Employee felt his low back and right leg pain resulted as a consequence of this fall.  Employee originally had symptoms in the right leg but they moved to the left side because of “how he landed.”  According to Dr. Schilperoort’s report, Employee felt his initial PT basically resolved his symptoms almost completely.  His symptoms returned after he returned from an out-of-town trip.  Since then he had slowly progressive, increasing pain over time.  His right leg radicular symptoms reportedly began somewhere between March and June of 2006, and had “migrated.”

Historically, Employee described either in 2003 or 2004 pulling something heavy out of a ditch.  This caused low back pain principally treated by a chiropractor and healed with no residual problem.  He denied other injuries or reasons to seek low back pain treatment before the June 28, 2005 injury.  Following the Redi episode, he lost a couple of days work and then returned to full-time duty, although it was light-duty, for about one week.  He then returned to full-time, full-duty work, which he maintained until October 2006.  Because of advancing symptoms, he was placed on light-duty work.  He had a six-week apprenticeship training course that ended in January 2007.  Employee was reportedly laid off on November 30, 2006 because of his back condition but attended training school despite his back.  As of this EME, he remained laid off.  His training was through IBEW Local 1547.
 

Dr. Schilperoort reviewed the medical history, freely making his own comments.  Much of Dr. Schilperoort’s discussion criticized Dr. Kropp's evaluation and treatment.  On physical examination, Dr. Schilperoort noted only one “non-organic” finding.  He concurred with Dr. Cable's review of the MRI and other film studies.  Dr. Schilperoort’s impression was: minor left elbow laceration secondary to the injury, left hip and paralumbar contusion secondary to the injury, subsequent right-sided L4-5, L5-S1 disc protrusion and herniation likely responsible for current valid symptoms, but not regarded as causally related to the June 28, 2005 incident. 

Dr. Schilperoort considered the abnormal lumbar range of motion a direct function of facet degenerative changes and not a post-traumatic problem.  He felt lumbar flexion was invalid for rating purposes; he found no reflex change associated with the L5 nerve root.  Dr. Schilperoort felt it was generally regarded that symptoms of nerve root compromise take as long as 24 to 48 hours to manifest themselves if they are associated with a specific event; there is not a great deal of variability beyond these guidelines.  Dr. Schilperoort addressed the tire “bleb” argument concerning “late herniation.”   He likened this argument to a tire that is damaged, or has a “bleb,” on its side-wall as a result of hitting an object and then later goes flat because the damaged area over time finally gives out.   Dr. Schilperoort admits such a scenario is possible.  However, he opines the analogy breaks down because a tire cannot heal itself while the human body can.  According to Dr. Schilperoort, from the time an injury tears the disc’s annulus, scar tissue begins to form;   approximately 6 weeks following the event, approximately 90% of all scar tissue that will form has been formed.  Therefore, Dr. Schilperoort opined a so-called “late herniation,” if postulated, could only occur within 6 weeks prior to the date adequate healing has taken place.

As for the mechanism of this injury, Dr. Schilperoort noted even an 8 foot fall from height creates considerable impact force; Employee’s on-the-job event could qualify for any one of a large number of pathological events to occur.  Dr. Schilperoort indicated the magnitude of force “most assuredly” meets the standard for the identifiable pathology seen on Employee's MRI scan.  However, in his opinion, the timeliness of right leg symptoms is dispositive.  During the six weeks following Employee's June 28, 2005 injury, Dr. Schilperoort found one ER visit, four visits with Dr. Simono, and seven PT visits.  Dr. Schilperoort found no documented reports of right leg symptoms during that time.  He perceives no reports or references to the right lower extremity in any medical records during the period of time he considers relevant.  He concludes, therefore, the October 11, 2006 MRI findings are not reasonably incurred as a consequence of the June 28, 2005 work-related injury.  He concedes that while the origins of the very substantial herniations at L4-5 and L5-S1 “are not known,” they “cannot be causally related to the 06/28/05 event.”  Dr. Schilperoort reviewed and commented upon additional medical records, in case we conclude the current condition is causally related to the June 28, 2005 injury.

Dr. Schilperoort also responded to specific questions.  He reiterated his diagnoses, felt the injury caused a probable minor or temporary aggravation of Employee’s pre-existing lower lumbar spine degenerative changes, and did not identify the June 28, 2005 injury as “the substantial cause” of the current need for treatment up to and including surgical intervention.  Medical care beginning on June 28, 2005 was reasonable, necessary, and within medically acceptable options for his injury in Dr. Schilperoort’s opinion; however, treatment beginning August 28, 2006 was satisfactory up to the referral to Dr. Kropp.  Dr. Schilperoort opined that referral was inappropriate; Employee should have been required to see a spine surgeon for continued evaluation; Dr. Kropp’s epidural steroid injection, L4 nerve root injection, and discography were “inappropriate,” and his electrodiagnostics were “inadequate.”

Dr. Schilperoort felt the primary injury Employee sustained on June 28, 2005 was fully resolved.  He based this assessment on his finding of an absence of any evaluation or treatment for essentially one year for the medical conditions, and on his finding that the “constellation of symptoms” at the time he presented on August 28, 2006, were different from those reported consistently in association with the June 28, 2005 fall.  Dr. Schilperoort felt these different symptoms, occurring well beyond any reasonable timeframe, negated a cause-and-effect relationship between the original injury and the subsequent MRI findings.  Therefore, he concluded no additional treatment was necessary for the work-related injury.  He did, however, indicate referral to a surgeon for appropriate treatment and electrodiagnostic studies was appropriate.

Dr. Schilperoort found no symptom magnification or malingering and opined that, given the significant MRI findings, Employee’s stated level of pain appeared quite reasonable.  Dr. Schilperoort found Employee medically stable from the June 28, 2005 injury; medical stability is presumed, according to Dr. Schilperoort, sometime subsequent to the final PT visit, which Dr. Schilperoort recorded as August 31, 2005.  Dr. Schilperoort assumes that, since Employee voluntarily suspended his evaluations and treatment at that time, “the presumption is” that he had resolution of symptoms and opined Employee had returned to his pre-injury status at the time he ceased treatment initially.  Dr. Schilperoort felt Employee's return to his normal duties show his injuries from June 28, 2005 had resolved functionally.
  

In respect to the June 28, 2005 injury only, Dr. Schilperoort felt Employee was capable of full, regular, unlimited-duty work.  However, given his then current condition of herniated discs at multiple levels, Dr. Schilperoort indicated Employee was automatically limited to no more than medium-level work with no lifting over 50 pounds, and no repetitive lifting over 25 pounds; and those limitations are permanent.
  

According to Dr. Schilperoort, Employee requires evaluation by an orthopedic surgeon or neurosurgeon familiar with disc herniations.  Dr. Schilperoort felt Dr. Kropp’s workup was inadequate; Employee needed a “good evaluation” and care at the hands of local spine surgeons and repeat electrodiagnostic studies because Dr. Kropp’s studies were “suspect,” in Dr. Schilperoort’s opinion.  He disagreed with Dr. Kropp’s referral to Dr. Yeung for endoscopic discectomy.  That procedure, according to Dr. Schilperoort, does not represent mainstream orthopedic and neurological thinking.

Assuming medical stability on August 31, 2005, Dr. Schilperoort would assign a DRE Lumbar Category I “0%” impairment of the whole person for the accepted, work-related injury according to the 5th edition of the AMA Guides.

On February 22, 2007, Dr. Kropp obtained a multi-leveled discography and found positive results at L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1.
  He repeated testing at two levels to make sure there was a concordant response to pain.
  Dr. Kropp also obtained a CT scan, which showed a definite annular tear just to the left of midline at L3-4.  Contrast material passed through the annulus to the right of midline directed toward the neural foramen, which was also torn.  There was a large protrusion into the right lateral recess.  There was marked effacement of the right lateral recess; at L5-S1, there was a large central defect in the annulus and marked protrusion of the annulus and disc posteriorly extending mainly into the right lateral recess but also centrally.

On February 27, 2007, Employee saw Dr. Kropp to review the discography results.  Dr. Kropp opined Employee needed at least a two-level “disc reduction” and perhaps something done at L3-4.  Dr. Kropp referred Employee to Tony Yeung, M.D., who according to Dr. Kropp is a leading expert in Arizona who handles patients with complex disc injuries.
  On March 6, 2007, Dr. Yeung said he would be happy to care for Employee and recommended “endoscopic decompression” at L4-5 and L5-S1; he would leave L3-4 alone at this point.
  

On March 9, 2007, Dr. Kropp wrote Employer’s insurer advising the endoscopic discectomy would cost 1/10th the cost of multilevel fusion done in Anchorage.
  Dr. Kropp wrote on March 14, 2007, that Employee's return to work date was “to be determined.”

On March 23, 2007, Redi controverted Employee’s benefits based upon Dr. Schilperoort’s report.
  

Dr. Kropp reviewed Dr. Schilperoort’s EME report on April 4, 2007.  He stated in response:

Mr. Hope returns today to discuss options since his case has been controverted.  We went over his IME by Dr. Schilperoort.  I am literally in a state of shock.  I have read harsh and one-sided IME's for years, but I have never seen one with this level of hostility towards the patient and myself.  Quite frankly, I'm not even sure how to respond.  I almost want to say this is slanderous.  To date, I have done an MRI, two steroid injections, a nerve conduction study and a discogram.  That is the standard of care for a large disc extrusion.  All of these procedures have been denied and retroactively canceled for reimbursement by worker’s comp based on Dr. Schilperoot’s [sic] recommendation.  I have never seen such an egregious case with such a cut and dried diagnosis.  This [is] a reckless and dangerous medical opinion.  I have advised Michael that I strongly feel that he should not do any heavy lifting, and should not return to work.

On April 10, 2007, Dr. Yeung wrote Dr. Kropp advising he had reviewed the CT discogram  personally and felt Employee's most symptomatic levels were at L3-4 and L5-S1, contrary to his prior note on March 6, 2007.  Dr. Yeung opined both of these areas represented disc herniations pressing on respective nerve roots radiating to the right; these symptoms matched Employee's pain diagram with back and leg pain on the right side.  Therefore, Dr. Yeung would leave L4-5 alone and treat only L3-4 and L5-S1 on the right.  He corrected his previous report and recommended a biportal selective endoscopic discectomy at those two levels.
  On April 13, 2007, Dr. Kropp stated Employee may return to work on June 18, 2007.
  

On April 18, 2007, Employee completed an Alaska Electrical Health & Welfare Fund form for weekly income disability benefits.  Employee stated he became disabled on November “31,” 2006 and had been totally and continuously disabled since that time.  He felt he could return to work in June 2007 after surgery.   He attributed his disability to an accident that occurred when he fell 12 feet from a ladder through a suspended ceiling on June 28, 2005 at West High School in Anchorage.  He checked “yes” to the question “did disability result from employment.”
 

Dr. Kropp also completed his portion of the form on April 17, 2007, and stated these “symptoms first appeared” or the “accident happened” on June 28, 2005, and Employee ceased work because of the disability on November 30, 2006.  Dr. Kropp indicated Employee had never had the same or similar conditions before and his disability did arise from his employment.  Further, Dr. Kropp indicated Employee will require surgical reduction and follow up care.  He was currently disabled, incapable of performing any job duties, and Dr. Kropp expected a good recovery after surgery.
  On May 2, 2007, Dr. Kropp reiterated Employee was still disabled.
  On May 5, 2007, Dr. Kropp wrote Employee the following letter:

Dear Mr. Hope:

     I would like to formally respond to what can only be described as “allegations” by Dr. Schilperoort and his supposedly independent medical exam (IME) of 2-19-2007.   Let me first say that I have read IMEs in the past that have been aggressive in supporting an employer(s)’ case and giving the insurance company what they want, but I have never seen an attack with this level of malice towards both the patient and the physician.

     Dr. Schilperoort’s IME should be considered with the understanding that his medical license has been sanctioned and limited in the state of Oregon, and is similarly limited in Nevada.  (He cannot perform any orthopedic surgical procedures and cannot practice while sleep deprived or at night).   In Alaska, he has an even more restrictive license.  In response to an investigation, he reached an agreement with the State of Alaska wherein his practice (and I quote):

     Shall be restricted solely to the practice of performing independent medical examinations/evaluations.  Schilperoort shall not engage in any other form of medical practice in Alaska, and he may not provide primary care or any other form of care or medications in Alaska.  He may not conduct any other form of medical practice in Alaska until he can prove he can do so with skill and safety and has been granted board approval.  If he is granted authority to extend his medical practice in Alaska, he must enter into an agreement with the board in relation to that practice if deemed appropriate by the board.

     A copy of the restrictive agreement subsequently approved by the members of the board of the State of Alaska, division of occupational licensing, is enclosed.  You'll find that they copied medical licensure investigators and others with that order, in part to insure it is followed.  Although I do not know what events and allegations led to these limitations, I can tell you that these kind of sanctions are only undertaken by medical boards for serious offenses.  I have included documents from Alaska, Nevada and Oregon re: his limited licenses.

     In my opinion, Dr. Schilperoort's license in Alaska needs to be reviewed again.  Recommending that a patient who fell 8 to 10 feet onto the floor, with a resulting disc extrusion return to full duty with heavy lifting is, in my medical opinion, outrageous.  Stating that the procedures that I did are inappropriate is not only untrue and slanderous to me and my practice, but is also damaging to the psychological status of the patient (you).

     As a side note, if you search the internet for Dr. Schilperoort, you'll find on the VIMO.com/doctor/doctor-view-review/Stephen+John+Schilperoort page of the “VIMO Comparison Shopping for Health” site, comments from at least six people, one of whom states he is a fellow doctor and would not refer any patient to see Dr. Schilperoort and advises readers to avoid him.  I have no knowledge of the truth of those statements, but they are interesting to read.  The print-out is attached.

Dr. Kropp also addressed Dr. Schilperoort's report point by point.  He averred he is a board certified and fellowship trained spinal intervention specialist whose license is not limited.  He noted a radiologist found a herniated disc at L4-5 and feels Dr. Schilperoort left that fact out of his report intentionally so he could say later that Dr. Kropp's injection at L4 was inappropriate.  Dr. Kropp supported the NC-STAT
 device as the standard of care owned and used by every board-certified surgeon in Anchorage; he denied he did an injection at L-5 based solely on the NC-STAT.   Employee’s MRI showed a large extrusion; his exam, combined with his prior medical history, supported a positive finding as well according to Dr. Kropp.  Dr. Kropp maintained this was the appropriate standard of care and further justified his L-4 injection based upon findings of a herniated disc at that level.  He noted Dr. Yeung agrees with this assessment.  Dr. Kropp disputed Dr. Schilperoort's allegation that a positive discogram at two levels is “equivocal.”  He justified his billing practices, suggested Dr. Schilperoort implied he made up results from the discography, deemed many of Dr. Schilperoort’s statements as “slanderous,” and faulted Dr. Schilperoort for not contacting him directly to discuss some of his allegations.
  

Dr. Kropp justified referring Employee to Dr. Yeung because of his disc situation and justified his treatment and noted the disc lesions had been there “for two years.”  According to his report, Dr. Kropp performs “some of the most sophisticated” spinal procedures available, and trained at the World Institute of Pain at Texas Tech University, which he says is recognized worldwide as one of the technological leaders in this field.  Lastly, Dr. Kropp said his treatments fell within the standard of care.
  Referenced in Dr. Kropp's letter as attachments were documents from the State of Alaska, the internet, physician ratings, and a VIMO “Comparison Shopping for Health” printout.

Employee saw Dr. Yeung on May 21, 2007, in Arizona.  Dr. Yeung reaffirmed his prior changes in his opinion to correct an error, and examined Employee; he found weakness in the right lower extremity and a positive straight leg raising test on the right at 60°.   He reviewed the radiographic studies; his diagnosis included paracentral disc herniation, disc protrusion, and annular tear.  Employee’s symptoms and findings were consistent with L4-5 and L5-S1 disc herniations on the right.  According to Dr. Yeung, Employee had a 70-90% chance of getting excellent relief of his right leg pain.  He opted for an endoscopic surgery over an open laminectomy discectomy; according to Dr. Yeung, if Employee did not get complete relief, he could always opt for the traditional approach.  Dr. Yeung clarified his reports and recommended the L4-5 and L5-S1 endoscopic decompression; the L3-4 level was misquoted on the initial report.
  

Employee underwent the recommended surgical procedure on May 22, 2007.
  One day postop, Employee's leg pain was gone according to the report.   He was instructed to return to Alaska and follow up with Dr. Kropp.

Employee’s Attorney entered his appearance on May 25, 2007.   Employee filed a petition for an SIME, attached the relevant medical records,
 and filed a claim requesting permanent partial impairment (PPI) when rated, medical costs to be determined, attorney’s fees and costs, and other benefits as set forth in block 17.
   Employee's SIME form contained citations from Dr. Kropp, Dr. Yeung, Dr. Simono, and Dr. Schilperoort.   It suggested medical disputes in areas of causation, compensability, and treatment, and listed non-SIME issues of medical stability and PPI. 

Employee saw Dr. Kropp on June 6, 2007 and reportedly looked “absolutely great.”  Dr. Kropp recommended continuing PT with therapist Wilson.
  

On June 14, 2007, Redi controverted all benefits based upon Dr. Schilperoort’s report.
  Redi answered the SIME petition and agreed an SIME was necessary.  Redi answered the claim for benefits and said it was not apparent what appropriate time loss benefits Employee was claiming, denied PPI benefits were due and owing based upon Dr. Schilperoort’s report, and denied additional medical benefits, attorney’s fees, and costs.  Redi reserved its affirmative defenses pending further discovery.

By July 3, 2007, Employee reported doing well with some radicular symptoms in the left leg.  He was feeling good and wanted to return to work.   Dr. Kropp released Employee to return to work on July 3, 2007, with restrictions of no lifting more than 20 pounds and no repetitive bending and stooping.
  On August 28, 2007, Employee reported to Dr. Kropp he was doing well but still getting some lower back spasm and some radicular symptoms into his legs.  Dr. Kropp recommended another MRI to see how things had changed since his surgery.

Employee underwent a post-endoscopic MRI with and without contrast on August 30, 2007.  The radiologist found a very mild, broad-based annular disc bulge and central protrusion at the L4-L5 level, which contacted the ventral, thecal sac and caused mild spinal canal and bilateral neural foraminal narrowing.  The central protrusion contacted the L-5 nerve roots in the lateral recesses bilaterally.   At the L5-S1 level, findings included a broad-based annular disc bulge with a mild central protrusion, which caused mild spinal canal and bilateral neural foraminal narrowing.  This protrusion contacted the left S1 nerve root in the lateral recess and L5 nerve roots were contacted laterally, bilaterally.

By September 18, 2007, Employee reported to his therapist he had improved and was able to go on day hikes on variable terrain without limitations in his trunk mobility and without back or leg pain.   Dr. Kropp referred Employee to Tim Kanady, D. C. for traction therapy.
  

Employee saw Dr. Kanady on October 2, 2007 for traction.  He again attributed his symptoms to a fall on June 28, 2005.
  Dr. Kanady provided hot or cold packs, traction, and electrical stimulation.

Dr. Kropp subsequently released Employee to return to work with restrictions of no lifting more than 30 pounds and no activities that caused increased pain.
   

Traction therapy failed to improve Employee's situation; he was still getting radicular symptoms down the posterior aspect of his left leg.  His endoscope procedure was on the right side, and Dr. Kropp was aware he had left-sited protrusions but had hoped the right-sided reduction would shrink the disc overall.
  Dr. Kropp concluded Employee needed another endoscopic discectomy at L5-S1 on the left to get this fragment off his disc.
  

 Dr. Kropp obtained an updated MRI that revealed a developmentally small central canal at L4-5 and L5-S1.  It revealed at the L4-5 level a central/right paracentral extrusion which, because of the canal’s small size, compressed the thecal sac and origin of the L5 nerve roots.
  He reviewed the new MRI that showed a recurrent disc protrusion, and noted Employee was doing well after his last procedure but now the pain had returned.  Dr. Kropp referred Employee to Tim Cohen, M.D. to determine what surgical options remained.

Employee’s and Redi’s attorneys signed the SIME form on May 25 2007 and November 19, 2007, respectively.
  On November 21, 2007, the parties stipulated to an SIME done by an orthopedist.
  On January 4, 2008 the Board’s Designee selected John McDermott, M.D., who performed the SIME.
  

Dr. Schilperoort reviewed Employee's deposition and issued a supplemental report on January 25, 2008.  He mentioned the deposition’s “high points” and stated Employee's testimony changed none of his previously expressed opinions.  He did, however, opine that Employee's work with Alcan Electric was “a substantial factor” resulting in his need to seek treatment.  Redi also asked Dr. Schilperoort to comment on the law effective November 7, 2005, in respect to Alcan Electric.  He stated:

In establishing the test for the substantial cause, the standard is based on the question of which cause is greater than any other contributing cause in the creation of the condition, individually. Therefore, in the order of contribution, the pre-existing disc protrusions and degenerative changes represent the substantial cause for continued symptoms and need for treatment. This condition is regarded as principally degenerative in nature, progressive in character, and characterized by escalation of symptoms due only to the conditions of time.  This pre-existing condition may have been temporarily symptomatically aggravated by the events of 06/28/05 in addition to the contusion.  Such aggravation, however, is considered fully resolved.  The last reported visit with any care provider in reference to this injury is 08/08/05.  Invoking the 45-day rule, this would then, therefore, label medical stability from this temporary symptomatic aggravation effective as of 09/22/05.  Mr. Hope's failure to seek medical treatment regarding his low back condition, due to the 06/28/05 event, is considered resolved effective as of 08/08/05. Please note, it is most typical for significant injuries to subside over approximately a three-month time period following a significant event. This estimated date of subsistence of the temporary symptomatic aggravation essentially falls within that timeframe.  It is, additionally, necessary to understand that the underlying degenerative changes clearly present will continue to escalate and progress as would be expected with any degenerative condition over time.  It is the progression of this degenerative condition that is considered responsible for Mr. Hope's low-grade spine symptoms, not the temporary symptomatic aggravation due to the 06/28/05 exposure.  However, due to a contribution of work exposure once again creating symptomatic aggravation, plus progressive escalation of the degenerative changes as would be expected merely by the passage of time, it is this combination, likely triggered by the work activity at Alcan with the heavy lifting, that created the need for seeking treatment beginning in August of 2006.  Therefore, the symptoms creating the need for seeking treatment, which has more or less been continuously present to the current date, has, as its underlying basic feature, the progression of degenerative multilevel lumbar spine degenerative arthritis “lit up” by the conditions of employment at Alcan Electric.  It may be easier to consider the conditions at Alcan Electric as the substantial factor in triggering the need for seeking treatment and the return to Dr. Simono on 08/08/06.  With this history, the conditions of employment at Redi Electric with the index date of injury of 06/28/05 were not a significant factor or the substantial factor in any need for treatment beginning 08/08/06 and thereafter.

Dr. McDermott issued his SIME report on February 25, 2008.  Reportedly, Employee's chief complaint was stabbing, aching pain in his low back area that goes into both buttocks and the back of both legs.  On the left side, the pain went down to the ankle area.  Historically, Employee said he was working on a ceiling doing electrical work and fell 10 to 14 feet landing on his backside and the left hip and back area.  He was reportedly maintained in a motionless state until paramedics arrived and took him to the emergency room; He was unable to walk easily for several days and saw his family doctor who referred him for PT and gave him medication.  He attended PT for several months afterwards and, because he was out of town working, did not go back for any treatment for eight months at which time he developed severe pain.  Subsequently, he had endoscopic discectomy in May 2007 and PT again for 2 to 3 months.  He saw Dr. Cohen in January 2008.

Employee again related his prior low back issues from 2004 to Dr. McDermott.  He related popping in his shoulders mostly on the right since his fall.  He said he returned to work several days after his fall, continued to work for that company until 2005, and then worked for other companies off and on until 2006 as an electrician.
  

Dr. McDermott also reviewed x-ray studies and medical records.  He diagnosed degenerative disc disease, L4-5 and L5-S1 with congenital stenosis, lower lumbar spine and low back symptoms, and complaints as noted.  Dr. McDermott found a period of time before the symptoms focused in the lumbar area.  He felt the Redi injury did aggravate, in combination with a pre-existing congenital spinal stenosis, the previous condition.  The procedure Dr. Yeung performed was not unreasonable, in Dr. McDermott’s opinion.  However, Dr. McDermott reported it did not appear to have been effective and did not eliminate the disc.  Dr. McDermott could not demonstrate any objective neurologic deficit.  He recommended only non-invasive conservative efforts such as an exercise program.  If this was not acceptable, he suggested evaluation by a board-certified neurologist with respect to radicular issues and an independent EMG test.  If either or both of these were positive, a neurosurgical consult should be considered for removal of the suspected disc fragment and bulge.  Medical stability would occur following the above recommendations.  He deferred a PPI rating.

Employee requested a hearing on his January 8, 2008 petition on January 16, 2008.
  The parties stipulated to an oral hearing on September 3, 2008, and noticed Dr. Schilperoort's deposition for July 24, 2008.  Apparently, Dr. Schilperoort died prior to his deposition.  

On March 31, 2008, Dr. Kropp wrote to Employee’s attorney stating he had reviewed Dr. McDermott's SIME report.  He agreed with Dr. McDermott that an EMG is a good idea.  He stated indications for lumbar surgery are radicular symptoms that match the dermatome that the MRI is indicating.  While a positive physical exam is also a good indication, sometimes tests are not reliable indicators and several studies show that physical exams are poor predictors of outcome for surgical decision-making for lumbar spine disease, according to Dr. Kropp.  In Employee's case, there were two large disk protrusions that Dr, Kropp attempted to reduce using minimally invasive techniques but that failed.  Dr. Kropp felt the longer it took arguing about this case the more damage the nerves have experienced and the delay was putting Employee at greater risk.

Employee saw Dr. Cohen on May 15, 2008.  After reviewing his history, Dr. Cohen set Employee up for L4-5 laminotomy and discectomy on the left with a foraminotomy.
  Dr. Cohen performed surgery on May 19, 2008.

Because Dr. Schilperoort had died, on July 22, 2008, Redi petitioned to continue the September 2008 hearing.  On July 29, 2008, Employee objected to the continuance.  Employee offered to stipulate that were he able to testify, Dr. Schilperoort would have testified to the facts and opinions stated in his three reports.
  Dr. McDermott's deposition was noticed and taken on October 2, 2008.

On September 11, 2008, Employee filed a listing of medical expenses paid for by the Alaska Electrical Trust Fund.  These amounts totaled $81,924.55.
  Apparently, the hearing on Employee's claim was rescheduled to November 4, 2008.
 

Employee saw Douglas Bald, M.D. on September 11, 2008, for an EME.  Employee’s chief complaints were intermittent low back pain and occasional shooting pain in his left leg.  Employee provided a consistent history of his 2005 injury.  He reported continuous, persistent complaints of lower back pain but no particular radicular symptoms into his lower extremities.  Reportedly, in March 2006, when he went to work for Alcan Electric did Employee first become aware of particular symptoms into the lower extremities.  

Dr. Bald performed a medical evaluation and reviewed the radiographic studies.  His impression included: multilevel degenerative disc disease, lumbar spine, with congenital canal stenosis, pre-existing; disc herniations at L4-L5 and L5-S1 with secondary right and left lower extremity radiculitis; postoperative L5-S1 and endoscopic discectomy, May 22, 2007; postoperative left L4-5 laminotomy, disc excision, and foraminotomy, May 19, 2008.  Dr. Bald concluded:

Is my opinion based upon medical probability that Mr. Hope's lower back condition is consistent with a combination of work-related injuries with pre-existing lower lumbar degenerative disc disease and relative canal stenosis secondary to congenitally short pedicles.  In my opinion, the medical treatment that has been provided has been reasonable and appropriate in nature for treatment of the claimant's lower back condition including both the endoscopic diskectomy at L5-S1 in May of 2007 and the open left L4-L5 laminotomy, disk excision, and foraminotomy of May 2008.

According to Dr. Bald, Employee was doing extremely well but was not yet medically stable and stationary; he had two years of deconditioning that needed to be reversed.  Dr. Bald completely agreed with Dr. Cohen that Employee required additional treatment consisting of PT and work hardening to restore his core strength before he returned to work as an apprentice electrician.  Dr. Bald felt the likelihood was extremely high Employee could return to his work as an apprentice electrician very soon; he anticipated 6 to 8 weeks of fairly vigorous PT and work hardening with a home exercise program.  Meanwhile, he limited Employee from any kind of repetitive or heavy bending and lifting activities.  Dr. Bald further stated: 

Regarding causation, in my opinion his congenitally short pedicles and lower lumbar degenerative disk disease are a substantial factor in his low back condition and ultimate need for surgical treatment times two.  In my opinion, the work injury event of June 28, 2005, is a substantial factor in his subsequently diagnosed disk herniations and ultimately in his need for surgical treatment times two.  In my opinion, the claimant's employment at Alcan is also a substantial factor in aggravating the pre-existing conditions, resulting in the lower extremity radiculopathy that resulted in his need for surgical intervention.

Dr. Bald opined that the work activities while Employee was employed at Alcan Electric from March 2006 through August 2006 are “a substantial cause” of his low back condition including his need for surgical treatment.  However, his Alcan Electric employment does not constitute the “sole cause” of his low back condition, disability, and need for medical or surgical treatment related to his conditions.  In Dr. Bald’s opinion, based upon medical probability, the disk herniations likely occurred with the original injury event of June 28, 2005.  The medical evidence supports that once Employee developed radicular symptoms, they were present to some degree in both lower extremities as supported by his diagnostic studies.  When asked to attribute a percentage of causation to his overall condition, Dr. Bald said:

Using the percentages as described in the question, in my opinion Mr. Hope's pre-existing lower lumbar degenerative disk disease and congenital canal stenosis constitute 25% of the cause or responsibility for his subsequently diagnosed low back condition.  In my opinion, the claimant's work injury of June 28, 2005, while employed [at] Redi Electric constitutes 30% of his overall low back condition.  In my opinion, his employment while employed at Alcan Electric constitutes 45% of his overall condition. None of the individual causes, in my opinion, constitutes 50% or more of the cause of Mr. Hope's back condition and specifically his need for treatment.  It is clear that on a medically probable basis the claimant's radicular symptomatology which ultimately resulted in his need for surgical treatment times two developed during the course of his employment at Alcan Electric and, in my opinion, is related to the repetitive and heavy nature of his work activities during this time period.

Dr. Bald opined the Alcan Electric employment constituted a permanent aggravation of a pre-existing condition.  He concluded the radicular symptoms in Employee’s lower extremities developed during this course of employment; it was these symptoms that resulted in his need for surgery times two.
  In Dr. Bald’s opinion, since the disc protrusions at L4-L5 and L5-S1 were permanently aggravated during Employee's Alcan Electric employment, the highest percentage of causation related to his need for treatment resulted from his Alcan Electric employment.
  When asked to apply the substantial factor analysis to the current need for treatment and disability, Dr. Bald said:

I do believe that the work injury event of June 28, 2005, while employed at Redi Electric was a substantial factor in his low back condition and ultimately in his need for medical treatment directed towards his low back condition.  In my opinion, had the injury of June 28, 2005, not occurred, it is unlikely that the claimant would later have developed the radicular symptomatology into his lower extremities that ultimately resulted in his need for surgical treatment times two.

Based on that definition, in my opinion the injury with Redi Electric is a substantial factor in Mr. Hope's low back condition including his need for treatment beginning in August of 2006 up to the present.
 

Dr. Bald also believed the June 28, 2005 Redi Electric injury is “a substantial factor” in Mr. Hope's current diagnoses, which is postoperative lumbar laminotomy, disc excision, and foraminotomy.  Though too early to assign, Dr. Bald indicated Employee will have a ratable PPI when he reaches medical stability.

On September 19, 2008, Employee clarified Employee's TTD claim was from January 1, 2007 and continuing until Employee reached medical stability.
 

Redi controverted Employee's claim on September 24, 2008, based upon Dr. Bald’s EME report, and claimed Employee's work with Alcan Electric was “the substantial factor” in Employee's need for surgery.
  Concurrently, Redi petitioned to join Alcan Electric as a party to this case.
  On September 25, 2008, Employee “Smallwooded”
 Dr. Bald’s EME report.
  

On September 29, 2008, Alcan’s attorney entered his appearance.  All three parties appeared at a prehearing conference on September 30, 2008.  Alcan declined to take a position on joinder because it had not yet had time to review the file.  Employee noted there was a hearing scheduled for November 4, 2008, and Employee did not believe Alcan was responsible for his benefits and did not want to cancel or postpone the hearing.  Employee refused to continue the hearing unless Redi agreed to advance disability benefits; Redi declined.  A follow-up prehearing was scheduled for October 16, 2008.

Alcan subsequently objected to the prehearing conference summary stating it did not agree to have the issue of joinder heard prior to the scheduled November 4, 2008 hearing; it requested an earlier hearing date for that issue.  In short, Alcan objected to having a hearing on short notice on the merits of Employee's claims.
  Alcan opposed Redi's petition to join on several grounds: first, it objected to joinder because no claim had been filed against Alcan; second, Alcan would controvert the injury based on failure to give notice pursuant to §100; third, Alcan needed additional time for an EME and to conduct discovery; and fourth, the “last injurious exposure” defense is time-barred.  Alcan cited Board and Supreme Court decisions supporting its position that joinder should be denied.

On October 16, 2008, Employee filed a petition requesting “interim compensation” pursuant to AS 23.30.155.  Alcan subsequently “Smallwooded” Dr. Schilperoort’s and Dr. Bald’s EME reports.
  

The parties appeared at an October 16, 2008 prehearing.  Alcan advised that if it were joined as a party its attorney would ask for a continuance.  A convenient date prior to November 4, 2008 was not available for a procedural day hearing to resolve these issues.  Our Designee took a break from the prehearing and inquired with Board staff if the joinder and continuance matters could be heard on an expedited basis.  The parties agreed to hear the joinder and continuance requests at 1:30 PM on October 16, 2008.  All parties waived their 10 day notice and proceeded to the hearing room.

A two-member Board panel heard the parties’ respective arguments on October 16, 2008; their arguments were similar to their written pleadings and positions at prehearing conferences.  After hearing the parties’ arguments and deliberating at length, we concluded: 

First, we granted Redi’s September 24, 2008 petition to join Alcan Electric pursuant to 
AS 23.30.135 and 8 AAC 45.040(d) & (j).

Second, we ordered Alcan to pay interim TTD to Employee from the date the dispute over joinder arose, which was September 24, 2008, the day of the petition, and continuing pursuant to 
AS 23.30.155(d).

Third, we ordered our Designee to schedule a medical evaluation following the procedures set forth in §095(k), but the evaluation was ordered pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g), as soon as possible but no sooner than December 1, 2008, to give Alcan an opportunity to obtain an EME.

Fourth, we continued the November 4, 2008 hearing pursuant to 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(I) & (L).  We concluded we could not allow the hearing to go forward without a potentially liable party present.  We further felt we had to continue the hearing to allow Alcan the opportunity to obtain discovery.  Lastly, we recognized the hardship on Employee the delay would cause and minimized that hardship by our order requiring Alcan to pay interim TTD.  

At the hearing’s conclusion, Alcan argued its due process rights were violated because the Board ruled on the interim TTD issue that Alcan had not had opportunity to brief, and which was not before the board.

On October 22, 2008, Alcan filed a “Report of Occupational Injury or Illness” dated October 10, 2008, and completed by its office manager.  This injury report listed a November 29, 2006 date of injury, stated the cause of injury was unknown, the Employee was not available to sign it, and doubted the report’s validity because no work injury was reported to Alcan.

On October 23, 2008, Alcan filed a “Motion for Extraordinary Review” with the Alaska Worker's Compensation Appeals Commission.

EMPLOYEE’S DEPOSITION TESTIMONY:

Redi deposed Employee on August 14, 2007.  Employee testified as follows: he has been involved in the IBEW apprenticeship program since 2001.  It takes about five years to complete.  He was not working as of the deposition date.
   Dr. Kropp currently restricted him to 25 pounds lifting with no repetitive bending or stooping.  Employee expected he would be able to physically complete the apprenticeship program.  Had he not injured his back, he probably would have completed the training program in 2007.
   Employee expected to complete the training in 2008 and become a wireman.  A wireman runs lots of electrical conduit, does wire pulling and general mechanical work.  It is primarily commercial.
   Apprenticeship training includes both classroom and on-site work.  Employee is paid while doing on-site work.
  Employee completed his classroom work in February 2007.

Employee believes he was entitled to TTD benefits from when he got laid off on November 30, 2006.
  As of his deposition, Employee was claiming TTD from January 1, 2007 through August 14, 2007.
  Employee believed his doctors had restricted him from working as of January 1, 2007.  However, Employee received unemployment benefits while he was in school and was receiving unemployment as of the date of his August 14, 2007 deposition although it was about to run out.
  Dr. Kropp took him off work during this time but allowed him to go to school.  He would not ordinarily be working if he was also going to classes.

Employee injured his back in mid-2004 while lifting something heavy out of a ditch and twisted.  He was working for Central Construction and did not file a report of injury with them because he did not think it was necessary.   Ireland Chiropractic treated him for a month or two.
  Employee had no PT with that injury.   His IBEW health insurance paid for his treatment.  Employee thought he had recovered from the 2004 twisting incident.
  He recalled having some back complaints between June 2004 and June 2005.  He remembered having “some pain just to the lower back.”  He recalled no pain radiating down either leg.
  He may have seen another chiropractor on occasion for the 2004 injury.
   Employee recalled having some back pain in May 2005 but could not recall specifics, and relied upon his medical records to speak for themselves.

Employee recalled his June 28, 2005 work-related injury as follows: he was working in a suspended ceiling using a 2 x 4 as a means to spread across the supports in order to get up and down from the ladder.  He was using a 10 foot ladder, and while on the way down for a break he was kneeling on the board when the 2 x 4 broke and he fell down.
   Employee fell 10 to 12 feet.  He had a bruise on his left side, a cut on his elbow, and his shoulders hurt.  He could not remember exactly where he was hurting but believes his back was sore.  He fell on his left side.
  Employee felt by the end of 2005 things had subsided and all that he had remaining was small pain in his back.
  Employee could not recall having any pain down in his leg in 2005.
  Employee did not think his Kung Fu practice had anything to do with his back pain.  Employee regularly did Kung Fu exercises but had not quite gotten to sparring with other people yet.  He started doing this a few months before the accident.
  Employee stopped doing Kung Fu before the snow fell in 2005 because of differences in opinion about the Kung Fu lifestyle between him and his instructor.
  Employee had not returned to Kung Fu; his other exercise was walking.

By the end of 2005, Employee said he was doing “pretty well.”  He returned to work out of town with Kachemak Electric.  He continued to have a little bit of pain in his lower back and ignored it.  It got progressively worse and worse until he went back to PT in 2006.
  Employee had approximately one year without any medical treatment for his work-related injury.  He did not believe he was pain free when he finished PT in August 2005.
  During the approximately one year during which Employee had no medical care for his work-related injury, he testified he just had a small pain in his back which kind of “hung around.”  Sometime toward the middle of 2006 it started getting worse and worse and started spreading down both his legs to the point where he was limping around and having trouble working.
  Employee does not believe his back pain started getting to the point where it caused trouble working until he began working with Alcan Electric in 2006.
  

Employee gave Redi’s counsel a copy of Employee's list of employers.
  Employee did not believe he had suffered any injuries specifically during any part of 2006.  He had no lifting incidents that he could recall; no twisting incidents; he completed no reports of injuries with any other employer after Redi’s 2005 injury.
 

While working for Alcan, Employee did general electrical work including bending pipe, lifting, and all that normally goes along with being an electrician.  He was not actually doing too much lifting on that job.  He was pulling conduit but could recall no physical activities that particularly tweaked his back.
   Employee was not positive, but he thought it was during his work with Alcan that he began experiencing pain into his lower limbs.

Employee recalled a lot of pain on his left side and could not remember if he had pain on his right side after the accident in 2005.  Redi’s attorney reviewed a medical report from August 2005 mentioning pain radiating down the posterior aspect of both legs and that refreshed 2005 Employee's memory.
  He recalled consistently having pain in his lower back.  He felt his leg pain was either new or more intense.  Eventually he had to go see a physician for it.  He stopped working for Alcan and his pain remained about the same.
  Employee has worked for no one since leaving Alcan and he had no new symptoms.  

Employee testified PT following Alcan's employment did not seem to help.   Dr. Kropp's injections did not help.  Prior to August 2006 the only treatment he had been given was some Skelaxin and some PT.
  Employee said he continued to work from about September 2005 through November 2006.  During that time he did not miss any work because of his back.  He was physically capable of performing his work during that time and felt his employers were getting their money's worth.  He testified he began working light-duty effective October 2006.   When that did not alleviate his symptoms, his doctor removed him from work completely.
  Subsequent to November 2006 his symptoms did not resolve and he had surgery in May 2007.  He testified he is now better than he was but still in some pain.  Pain still radiates down the left side.  He fairly consistently still has pain in his lower back; PT was making him feel a little stronger.

While employed with Kachemak in November 2005 through March 2006, Employee was not having an increase in symptoms that he can recall.  He began working at Alcan and his symptoms began sometime after April 2006.  While employed with Alcan he worked on an old folk’s home.  He was running small pipe and not doing anything heavy.  He may have been lifting up to 30 pounds possibly.  He was not necessarily working in an awkward position.  He was going up and down ladders and scaffolding.  He then went to another building and installed a couple of light switches.  He worked at the native science research center at UAA and ran pipe as on the other job.
  Some lifting on that job may have been over 100 pounds but he did not lift by himself. Pulling cable of the reels was not heavy.  Employee also worked at the Boniface Mall school district remodel job.  There was significant lifting involved at the mall job and it became substantially harder to continue working.  This lifting could have ranged typically from 30 pounds to the 100 pound range; he wore a work tool belt that maybe weighed around 10 or 15 pounds.

Dr. Kropp released him to light-duty work but he was unable to find jobs within those requirements.  He may need more surgery.   Dr. Kropp might do the similar surgery which Dr Yeung had done before only at the L-4 level.
   Employee did not feel he was getting any better or any worse.  He never filed an injury report with Alcan.  No doctor ever told him that they think his work for Alcan or any other employer other than Redi might be responsible for his current problems her symptoms.  He asked Dr. Simono and therapist Wilson about it.  Dr. Simono told him she believed it was Redi’s injury and not Alcan's fault.
  Therapist Wilson told him the same thing.  He did not recall talking to Dr. Kropp about it.  Employee did not think his work at Alcan contributed to his current problem.  He always tried to lift carefully and correctly and did not think he made anything worse by doing his work at Alcan.  His back never got completely better after he fell and he does not recall any bad twisting or anything like that; he thinks it was a “natural progression.”

DR. MCDERMOTT’S TESTIMONY:

SIME Dr. McDermott testified by deposition on October 2, 2008 as follows: he is board-certified in orthopedics and a member of the American College of Surgeons and the American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons.
  He performs medical evaluations for the Washington Department of Labor.  Dr. McDermott reviewed a notebook with a large quantity of medical records and Mr. Hope's deposition.  He also reviewed Dr. Bald’s EME report.
  He agreed Employee had a congenitally small spinal canal.   He also had a pre-existing diagnosis of lumbar disk disease.  He felt Employee suffered a lumbar strain when he fell on June 28, 2005; he did not believe his diagnoses were related to the fall that occurred in June 2005.
  He felt the fall was simply a “bleep” in an ongoing pattern.
  Dr. McDermott felt the June 2005 injury aggravated his previous condition.  He felt Employee was virtually symptom free for a year following Redi’s injury.
  Dr. McDermott could find no objective evidence of a permanent worsening of the pre-existing condition after the Redi fall.
  

Redi’s attorney reviewed Employee's deposition testimony with Dr. McDermott.  Dr. McDermott opined the Alcan work would have been a substantial factor in his physical condition and not just in his need for treatment.
  He also felt the Alcan work was a substantial factor in his need for surgery.
  It was a permanent worsening of an underlying condition.

Dr. McDermott listed all the causes contributing to Employee’s need for surgery in May of 2007 as: 1) pre-existing congenital stenosis, degeneration in his lumbar spine, and 2) “then evidently the heavy lifting at Alcan.”   Dr. McDermott did not include the June 28, 2005 fall as a cause of his need for surgery.
   He was unable to apportion a percentage of causation to these two contributing events.  However, according to Dr. McDermott, Employee did not need surgery before his Alcan employment so whatever happened in the lifting produced symptoms that led to surgery.
  He felt Employee probably did not remember the Alcan episode that finally caused the disk to compromise the nerve root.
  The Alcan work accelerated the time in which he would need surgery.  

When asked expressly whether or not he agreed the Alcan employment was “the substantial cause” of the need for surgery, Dr. McDermott said he accepted that on the history given, but noted the imaging studies “do suggest a progressive change.”
  He ruled out Redi’s employment injury as even a contributor to the need for surgery in May 2007 -- to a reasonable degree of medical probability.

Dr. McDermott could find no radiculopathy so that is why he did not recommend additional surgery.  According to him, the type of surgery Employee had in 2007 is not allowed in Washington although it is not “experimental.”  Dr. McDermott said Dr. Yeung’s procedure “is a burning of the disc” to reduce the amount of disc pressure and can also be done “chemically” and agreed it was like “Chemopapain” (sic) treatments.
   He also felt the second surgery in May 2008 was not related to anything that happened in 2005.
   Employee’s Alcan employment continued to be the substantial factor in his need for surgery in 2008.

On cross-examination, Dr. McDermott testified that an important consideration in his opinion is whether or not Employee experienced radiation down his legs after the Redi accident in 2005.
  Radiating pain is an indication that there may be more damage to the disk rather than just low back pain caused by a sprain.
  

Dr. McDermott had and reviewed Employee's deposition prior to dictating his report.
  He admitted typically low back pain that comes on as a result of lifting occurs with “immediate onset of symptoms.”
  He conceded there was no immediate onset while Employee worked at Alcan and no suggestion of “one point, one day, one incident” when Employee was working for Alcan that he started having back pain.
  Dr. McDermott rejected the notion there was an immediate onset of symptoms after the fall in June 2005.
  Employee reviewed with him medical records from soon after the June 2005 injury, which showed complaints of pain radiating into lower extremities.  Dr. McDermott conceded this was correct.
 

Dr. McDermott felt there was no contemporaneous medical record at the time of the June 2005 fall that led him to believe there was any radiculopathy or neurologic compression on the nerve.  Employee inquired what document Dr. McDermott had seen since his report that made him change his answer to item number 3 on page 4.  Dr. McDermott responded that he had reviewed Mr. Hope's deposition; Employee pointed out that he also had and reviewed Mr. Hope's deposition previously. Dr. McDermott stated he had not focused on the subsequent employment at the time he first reviewed Mr. Hope's deposition.  Now, according to Dr. McDermott, he focused on it specifically at pages 31, 41, 45, and 53.
  

DR. BALD’S TESTIMONY:

Subsequent to our hearing, we also reviewed Dr. Bald’s October 17, 2008 deposition.  He testified as follows: he is an orthopedic surgeon practicing in Portland.  He is board-certified and a member of the American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons and the Western Orthopedic Association.  Dr. Bald also works as an associate clinical professor at two universities.  On September 11, 2008, he reviewed a large medical file, Employee's deposition, and saw employee for an EME.
  Dr. Bald also reviewed Dr. McDermott's SIME report and his deposition.

Employee's history obtained by Dr. Bald was consistent with his medical history as shown in his report, according to Dr. Bald.  It was “pretty much” consistent with Employee's deposition testimony.
  Employee had some pre-existing spinal degeneration.  Dr. Bald reviewed what Employee told him concerning his medical history, history of his work-related injury at Redi, and his subsequent medical treatment.
  Dr. Bald did not know whether his employment at Alcan was more physically demanding than his employment anywhere else as an apprentice electrician.

Dr. Bald opined consistent with his report that there were three, separate, distinct, entities contributing ultimately to his need for surgical treatment.  There was a definite contribution to the low back for his pre-existing degenerative disk disease.  This was documented in 2004 according to Dr. Bald.  His congenital short pedicles, which resulted in a smaller spinal canal, were also contributory to his need for surgical treatment.  Lastly, Dr. Bald felt Employee's Alcan employment was responsible, “in a sense,” for his developing radiculopathy that ultimately led to his need for surgical treatment times two.  There was also a contribution to his low back condition from the work injury he incurred while employed with Redi.
  The injury Employee suffered at Redi caused the disk protrusion in Dr. Bald’s opinion.   The mechanism of the Redi injury is consistent with causing a disk protrusion.   The only “significant injury” occurred in the event at Redi.

Dr. Bald opined it would be unusual but not unheard of for a person herniating discs following a fall from a ladder to return to work within 13 days.  According to Dr. Bald, radiculopathy develops when the herniated disk either extrudes more or does something so that it now puts pressure on the nerve.  Dr. Bald acknowledged that in his opinion the radiculopathy occurred during the time Employee was employed by Alcan.
   Dr. Bald neither agreed nor disagreed with Dr. McDermott's opinion that the Redi fall only resulted in a lumbar strain.   He felt there was no way to know for sure and he “arbitrarily” felt it was related to the fall because the fall was a significant injury and the mechanism of injury was consistent with causing that kind of spinal problems.  Dr. Bald felt Employee, however, did not during the relevant time period following the 2005 fall develop any radiculopathy and seemed to do reasonably well.

Dr. Bald reiterated his written opinion concerning his percentage comparison of causation.  In his opinion, the Redi injury in June 2005 constituted 30% of the overall low back situation.  His employment at Alcan considered 45% of the condition and his need for surgical treatment.  Employee's pre-existing degenerative disk disease and congenitally short pedicles constituted 25% of the cause of this combined back condition and specifically his need for surgical treatment.  None of the three conditions consisted of more than 50% of the overall condition.
  If any one of those three things had not been present, Dr. Bald thinks Employee would not have ended up needing surgery.
  Dr. Bald would not say the Alcan work “accelerated” the point at which Employee came to surgery.  Dr. Bald felt it was clear in his mind that while Employee was employed at Alcan that he developed the onset of radiculopathy.
  Dr. Bald felt there was an “aggravation” of his condition while working at Alcan.

On Alcan’s cross-examination, Dr. Bald agreed Employee was fairly young to have such a high degree of degenerative disk disease.
  Dr. Bald did not think he asked Employee whether Employee thought his work with Alcan caused his back problems.
  Dr. Bald later clarified his answer and stated he did ask Employee if he thought he had an injury with Alcan and Employee told him “no.”
  Dr. Bald stated Employee did not tell him he noticed symptoms in his legs while he was actually working on the clock at Alcan, but only that he noted the symptoms in his legs during the period of time he was employed with Alcan.
  Dr. Bald testified that his degenerative disk disease is progressive, so it would be expected to degenerate; and he could not say with any degree of certainty that Employee would not have developed the same problem at some point in the future if he had not been doing electrical work.
  Nevertheless, it remained Dr. Bald’s opinion that the Redi injury was “the factor in causing the herniated discs.”
  In Dr. Bald’s opinion, the radiculopathy is what resulted in his need for surgery that came about, in his opinion, as a result of the Alcan employment.

Employee also cross-examined Dr. Bald.  Dr. Bald emphasized that surgical treatment is done for radiculopathy and not necessarily for herniated discs.
  Dr. Bald felt it was more likely for someone at age 26 to have herniated discs occur from a traumatic injury such as the 2005 fall from the ladder than it is from his 2006 employment.  He stated the 2005 Redi injury was a “significant injury.”
  Dr. Bald felt both surgical procedures Employee received for his back were appropriate.
   Lastly, Dr. Bald testified that facet joint disease can give a patient radiation into his posterior thighs.  In his mind, to constitute radiculopathy, symptoms must go below the knee into the foot or that kind of thing.  Dr. Bald admitted this was not an absolute rule.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This case’s current status reveals interesting and complicated legal issues.  We find Employee wants to go forward with his hearing.  We find continuing the hearing may be a financial hardship for Employee because he has been unemployed for a lengthy time and his unemployment had run out.  On the other hand, we find Employer Redi has exercised its legal right to petition to join Employer Alcan under “the last injurious exposure rule.”  We find Employer Redi controverted Employee’s claim on September 24, 2008, solely on the basis that Employer Alcan may be responsible for all or a portion of the benefits Employee seeks in his claim.
  We find going forward with the November 4, 2008 hearing would unfairly prejudice Alcan, as it would not have an opportunity to properly prepare for hearing by that date.   We find Alcan has expressed its intent to send Employee to an EME.  We find it likely the EME will create yet another medical dispute between Employee's physicians and Alcan's EME.  We further find, upon receipt of Alcan’s EME report, a Board-ordered medical evaluation would likely assist us in deciding the merits of Employee's case, given Alcan's late entry into this matter.  In short, we find complicated and intertwined legal rights and obligations, which we must apply to this case’s rather unique facts to afford a remedy best suited to protect the rights of all parties.  

REDI’S PETITION TO JOIN ALCAN:

AS 23.30.001 provides our basic guideline for interpreting and applying the Act and states:

It is the intent of the legislature that
(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers' compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

(3) this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

(4) hearings in workers' compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

AS 23.30.005(h) requires that our procedures are as simple and summary as possible and states:

The department shall adopt rules for all panels, . . .  and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . . 

AS 23.30.135(a) gives us broad discretion in conducting our hearings and states:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

Lastly, 8 AAC 45.040 addresses joinder and states in relevant part:

(d) Any person against whom a right to relief may exist should be joined as a party.

. . .


(f) Proceedings to join a person are begun by


(1) a party filing with the board a petition to join the person and serving a copy of the petition, in accordance with 8 AAC 45.060, on the person to be joined and the other parties; or


(2) the board or designee serving a notice to join on all parties and the person to be joined.

. . .


(h) If the person to be joined or a party


(1) objects to the joinder, an objection must be filed with the board and served on the parties and the person to be joined within 20 days after service of the petition or notice to join; or


(2) fails to timely object in accordance with this subsection, the right to object to the joinder is waived, and the person is joined without further board action.


(i) If a claim has not been filed against the person served with a petition or notice to join, the person may object to being joined based on a defense that would bar the employee's claim, if filed.


(j) In determining whether to join a person, the board or designee will consider


(1) whether a timely objection was filed in accordance with (h) of this section;


(2) whether the person's presence is necessary for complete relief and due process among the parties;


(3) whether the person's absence may affect the person's ability to protect an interest, or subject a party to a substantial risk of incurring inconsistent obligations;


(4) whether a claim was filed against the person by the employee; and


(5) if a claim was not filed as described in (4) of this subsection, whether a defense to a claim, if filed by the employee, would bar the claim.

Redi’s September 24, 2008 petition to join Alcan Electric is granted pursuant to 
AS 23.30.135 and 8 AAC 45.040(d) & (j).  Though we do not rule upon the merits of Employee's claim against Redi or the validity of any defenses by any party, we note that pursuant to 8 AAC 45.040(d), Alcan appears to be a “person” against whom a right relief “may” exist.  Medical evidence arguably supports Redi's “last injurious exposure” claim against Alcan.
  

We have considered all 8 AAC 45.040(j) requirements and the parties’ arguments.  We find Alcan has objected to joinder and its objection was timely.  We find Alcan's presence in this case is necessary for complete relief and due process among the parties, because medical evidence shows the possibility of a “last injuries exposure” case against Alcan.  8 AAC 45.040(j)(2).  We find that going forward with a hearing against Redi only may result in inconsistent Board decisions and a resultant violation of one or more parties’ rights.  We find going forward without Alcan’s presence may affect Alcan’s right to protect its interest in defending against a “last injurious exposure claim.”  8 AAC 45.040(j)(3).  We find Employee has never filed a report of injury or a claim against Alcan and feels strongly that his Alcan employment did not cause his need for medical care beginning in 2006 or thereafter, or any disability.  8 AAC 45.040(j)(4).  We find we cannot determine, at this time, whether a defense to a claim if filed by Employee against Alcan would bar the claim because we lack sufficient evidence, argument, and case law to address this issue.  8 AAC 45.040(j)(5).  

We conclude it is not necessary for us to determine the answer to each of the five requirements under 8 AAC 45.040(j) before joining a party.  We placed greater emphasis on 8 AAC 45.040(j)(2-3).  We note here, as we did at hearing, that all parties requested immediate relief and a ruling on the petition to join because of the pending November 4, 2008 hearing.  Our regulations and statutes generally work well when we must formulate a remedy that protects the rights of all parties.    AS 23.30.001.  We conclude our decision to join Alcan does just that.

We conclude the legislature intended that we interpret the Act to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to employers subject to its provision.  The law requires us to decide cases on their merits and to not construe the law in favor of any party.  Lastly, our hearings must be impartial, fair, and must afford all parties due process.  AS 23.30.001(1-4).  

We further find our process and procedure “shall be as summary and simple” as possible.  AS 23.30.005(h).  We find that our hearings are not bound by common or statutory law or by technical or formal rules of procedure.  We may make our investigation and conduct our hearings in a manner by which we may best ascertain the parties’ rights.  AS 23.30.135(a).  Lastly, we find that joining Alcan is the only effective way to protect the rights of all parties in this case.
  We conclude Alcan may raise any and all defenses under the law to Redi's “last injurious exposure” defense and administrative economy requires us to hear Alcan's defenses, along with Redi's last injurious exposure defense, in light of Employee's claims against Redi.

CONTINUING THE NOVEMBER 4, 2008 HEARING: 

With regard to continuances, 8 AAC 45.074(b) states in relevant part:

Continuances or cancellations are not favored by the board and will not be routinely granted. A hearing may be continued or cancelled only for good cause and in accordance with this section. For purposes of this subsection:


(1) Good cause exists only when. . . .

. . .

(I) the board determines that despite a party's due diligence in completing discovery before requesting a hearing and despite a party's good faith belief that the party was fully prepared for the hearing, evidence was obtained by the opposing party after the request for hearing was filed which is or will be offered at the hearing, and due process required the party requesting the hearing be given an opportunity to obtain rebuttal evidence;


(J) the board determines at a scheduled hearing that, due to surprise, excusable neglect, or the board's inquiry at the hearing, additional evidence or arguments are necessary to complete the hearing; 
. . .

(L) the board determines that despite a party's due diligence, irreparable harm may result from a failure to grant the requested continuance or cancel the hearing.


(2) In its discretion and in accordance with this section, a continuance or cancellation may be granted


(A) by the board or its designee for good cause under (1)(A) - (H) of this subsection without the parties appearing at a hearing; or


(B) by the board for good cause under (b)(1)(I)-(L) of this subsection only after the parties appear at the scheduled hearing, make the request and, if required by the board, provide evidence or information to support the request.

We continue the November 4, 2008 hearing pursuant to 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(I) & (L).  We find no evidence Alcan had any notice or knowledge of any potential claim against it until Redi filed its September 24, 2008 petition to join Alcan.  We find Alcan has not had an opportunity to obtain an EME or develop much other discovery.  We conclude the Act requires a continuance so Alcan can formulate its defenses, obtain appropriate discovery, and so we can decide this case on its merits.  AS 23.30.001(1-4).
INTERIM BENEFITS PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.155(d):

AS 23.30.155(d) states in relevant part:

If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death. . . .  When payment of temporary disability benefits is controverted solely on the grounds that another employer or another insurer of the same employer may be responsible for all or a portion of the benefits, the most recent employer or insurer who is party to the claim and who may be liable shall make the payments during the pendency of the dispute. When a final determination of liability is made, any reimbursement required, including interest at the statutory rate, and all costs and attorney fees incurred by the prevailing employer, shall be made within 14 days after the determination.

We orally ordered Alcan to pay interim TTD to Employee from the date the dispute over joinder arose, which was September 24, 2008, the date of Redi’s petition, and continuing expressly “pursuant to 23.30.155(d).”
  We hereby modify slightly our oral order at the October 16, 2008 hearing on this point.  Our oral order should have ordered Alcan to pay interim TTD “from the date we joined Alcan as a party, October 16, 2008, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(d).”  Alcan was not a party to the claim until October 16, 2008, when the Board joined it as a party.  Therefore, Alcan's obligation to pay TTD pursuant to §155(d) began October 16, 2008, and not September 24, 2008.

At the October 16, 2008 hearing, Alcan argued that we violated Alcan's due process rights by deciding the interim TTD issue raised by Employee's pending petition, when that issue was not set for hearing at a prehearing conference, and Alcan had not had an opportunity to brief or otherwise address it.  However, Alcan misconstrues our actions at the October 16, 2008 hearing.  We did not intend to rule, and we did not rule, on Employee's petition for interim TTD.  Our oral order never said that we ruled on Employee's petition.  We based our order expressly on AS 23.30.155(d).

Once we joined Alcan as a party to this case, we find §155(d) became self-executing and required Alcan to pay Employee TTD employee pending resolution of this case.  We find that this part of §155(d)’s purpose is to ensure injured workers have TTD benefits while employers argue over who is responsible for Employee's ongoing disability.  We find this concept is the entire point of this portion of that subsection.  We find and conclude it is a self-executing statute.  In other words, an injured worker does not have to file a claim or petition for an order under this subsection.
   The fact Employee had a pending petition seeking interim TTD is immaterial to our finding and conclusion on this point.  We find our remedy on this point particularly compelling under the Act, given that in this case, Employee at present has no desire to seek relief from Alcan, and Redi waited essentially to the last minute to file its petition to join Alcan as a party to Employee's dispute.  As Alcan pointed out at hearing, had Redi filed its petition to join Alcan sooner, any defenses and other issues could have and would have been resolved long before the eve of Employee's long-awaited hearing on the merits of his claim against Redi.  Furthermore, as we informed the parties at hearing, if Alcan prevails on its defenses, it has the right to obtain recovery of its attorney’s fees and costs directly from Redi.
  AS 23.30.155(d).

In State of Alaska, Department of Corrections v.  Dennis,
 the commission declined extraordinary review of a board decision awarding interim temporary disability and stated:

The last employer retains the right to controvert liability on the basis of evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption, but it must pay (subject to the right of reimbursement) temporary compensation despite a valid controversion. 

As here, the Dennis board determined in reviewing §155(d) that “there is insufficient evidence in the record, as yet,” to rule on the last employer’s defenses.  Furthermore, in direct support of our sua sponte order in this case, entered before briefing or argument, the commission stated:

AS 23.30.155(d) is intended to be ‘self-executing.’  It provides the employee with temporary benefits (footnote omitted) while the board decides between one party, an employer who is almost certainly liable, and the second party, a possibly liable, (usually later), employer.  AS 23.30.155(d) is intended to spare the employee the wait for benefits when the only colorable defense by an otherwise responsible employer is that another employer’s employment is the legal cause of the disability.  In such cases, the later employer pays temporary compensation, but is entitled to be fully reimbursed upon the board’s determination that another employer is liable (footnote omitted).  The availability of reimbursement is crucial to the proper operation of AS 23.30.155(d).  It would be a violation of the right to due process to compel any employer, who validly exercises the right to controvert benefits, to pay benefits to an employee prior to a hearing on the merits of the employee’s claim, because an employer cannot recover benefits paid to an employee to whom the employer is not liable, (footnote omitted) absent proof of employee fraud (footnote omitted).  If the employer who pays compensation under AS 23.30.155(d) is found not liable to the employee, and reimbursement is not available, by compelling prepayment, the state will have deprived an employer of its property without due process of law.

In Parish v. City of Seward Hospital,
 we ordered Employer to pay interim time-loss and medical benefits in a last-injurious-exposure case.  In Martinez v. Ocean Beauty Seafoods,
 citing AS 23.30.135, we awarded interim compensation, at least until the conclusion of an SIME, based upon the unique facts of that case.  Based upon this case’s unique facts, as set forth in detail above, we will award interim compensation until the Board-ordered medical evaluation is completed and we decide the case on its merits.

A BOARD-ORDERED MEDCIAL EVALUATION PURSUANT TO §110(g):

AS 23.30.095(k) states:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board. The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer. . . . 

AS 23.30.110(g) states:

An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician which the board may require. The place or places shall be reasonably convenient for the employee. The physician or physicians as the employee, employer, or carrier may select and pay for may participate in an examination if the employee, employer, or carrier so requests. Proceedings shall be suspended and no compensation may be payable for a period during which the employee refuses to submit to examination.

8 AAC 45.090(b) states, as follows:

Except as provided in (g) of this section, regardless of the date of an employee's injury, the board will require the employer to pay for the cost of an examination under AS 23.30.095(k), AS 23.30.110(g), or this section.

We orally ordered our Designee to schedule a medical evaluation following the procedures set forth in §095(k), but the evaluation was ordered pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g).  We ordered this medical evaluation as soon as possible but no sooner than December 1, 2008, to give Alcan an opportunity to obtain an EME.  This §110(g) evaluation is functionally similar to a §095(k) SIME.  When deciding whether to order an SIME, the Board considers the following criteria:

1.  Is there a medical dispute between Employee’s physician and Employer’s independent medical evaluator?

2.  Is the dispute significant? 

3. Will a SIME physician’s opinion assist the Board in resolving the disputes?

We have consistently found, and we again find, that §095(k) is procedural and not substantive for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage.
  We conclude we have wide discretion pursuant to §095(k) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order an SIME to assist us in investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims, pursuant to §135(a).  In most cases, to justify ordering an SIME under §095(k), we must find the medical dispute is “significant.”
    We find the medical disputes here are significant.  They are further complicated by Alcan's late joinder into this case.

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (“AWCAC”) in Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp.,
 addressed our authority to order an SIME pursuant to §095(k), and an evaluation pursuant to §110(g).  With regard to §095(k), the AWCAC referred to its decision in Smith v. Anchorage School District, in which it said:

[t]he statute clearly conditions the Employee's right to an SIME . . . upon the existence of a medical dispute between the physicians for the Employee and the employer.

The AWCAC further stated that before ordering an SIME, we must find that the medical dispute is both significant or relevant to a pending claim or petition and that the SIME would assist us in resolving the dispute.
  Under either §095(k) or §110(g), the AWCAC noted the purpose of ordering an SIME is to assist the Board; it is not intended to give Employee an additional medical opinion at Employer’s expense when Employee disagrees with her own physician’s opinion.
  

We find Alcan intends to send Employee to an EME.  Alcan's EME may disagree in large measure with Dr. Bald’s and Dr. Schilperoort’s opinions.  However, if Alcan's EME agrees with Redi's EMEs in any respect, then there will be a medical dispute between Alcan's physicians and Employee's attending physicians.  We further find our SIME Dr. McDermott was confused about critical medical-legal issues in his deposition.
  We find additional delays waiting for Alcan’s EME report to see if a dispute actually arises are unreasonable because Employee was ready to go to hearing on November 4, 2008, and Redi’s last minute request for Alcan’s joinder has caused the instant delay.  Most importantly, we find a Board-ordered medical evaluation after Alcan's opportunity to obtain an EME, will permit the parties and the Board to develop and ask questions regarding any remaining medical issues, will assist us greatly in deciding this complicated case on its merits and will best protect the rights of all parties.
 

Lastly, we find Employee currently has filed no claim against Alcan and has expressed no interest in pursuing any rights against Alcan.  We find Redi successfully petitioned to implicate reluctant Alcan in this case.  Accordingly, we modify out oral orders slightly and find the potential for another medical dispute was generated solely by Redi’s petition to join Alcan, and we direct Redi to pay for the costs associated with the §110(g) evaluation.
  We direct our Designee to schedule the §110 evaluation as soon as possible but no sooner than December 1, 2008 with Dr. McDermott, who is already familiar with this case, and with the parties’ assistance, obtain medical records and appropriate questions pursuant to the requirements of AS 23.30.095(k) and 8 AAC 45.092.  Using Dr. McDermott will advance the case more quickly and reduce Redi’s costs, consistent with the legislature’s intent.  AS 23.30.001(1).


ORDER

1) Redi’s September 24, 2008 petition to join Alcan Electric is granted pursuant to 
AS 23.30.135 and 8 AAC 45.040(d) & (j).  
2) We continue the November 4, 2008 hearing pursuant to 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(I) & (L).  
3) We modify slightly our oral order at the October 16, 2008 hearing and order Alcan to pay interim TTD from the date we joined Alcan as a party, October 16, 2008, pursuant to the self-executing provisions of AS 23.30.155(d).
4) We order our Designee to schedule a medical evaluation following the procedures set forth in §095(k), but the evaluation is ordered pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g).  We order this medical evaluation to occur as soon as possible but no sooner than December 1, 2008 to give Alcan an opportunity to obtain an EME, in accordance with this decision.
5) We order Redi to pay the costs associated with Employee’s attendance at the §110(g) evaluation and the report pursuant to AS 23.30.095(e) & §135.

6) We direct our Designee to arrange for a medical evaluation by Dr. McDermott, and with the parties’ assistance, obtain medical records and appropriate questions pursuant to the requirements of AS 23.30.095(k) and 8 AAC 45.092.  We reserve our jurisdiction to resolve any disputes over this issue.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this     day of November,  2008.
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RECONSIDERATION
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MODIFICATION
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� See Dr. Kropp's April 17, 2007 responses on health trust report.  SIME record 146.


� See Dr. Kropp's May 2007 welfare fund statement.


�See Dr. Kropp's May 5, 2007 letter.


� “The NC-stat System (NeuroMetrix Inc.) is an automated portable system for performing noninvasive nerve conduction testing that allows general practitioners or specialists to perform these tests in a physician’s office, obtaining results within minutes.  The system incorporates a proprietary gel and single-use biosensors that ensure correct placement of electrodes and measurement of body temperature (which affects the speed of nerve conduction).  The NC-stat monitor analyzes the waveforms (shape and form of the electrical signal being captured) produced by the biosensors while correcting for temperature.  An optional docking station relays the information to an electronic database at NeuroMetrix via telephone. This database compares the data with normal ranges and produces an e-mail or fax-back report identifying any abnormalities.”  


See � HYPERLINK "http://www.tuftshealthplan.com/providers/pdf/mng/nc-stat.pdf" �http://www.tuftshealthplan.com/providers/pdf/mng/nc-stat.pdf�.


� See Dr. Kropp's May 5, 2007 letter.


� Id. at 2 through 3.


� These enclosures are not attached to Dr. Kropp's report as it appears in the SIME records.


� See Dr. Yeung’s May 21 2007 report.


� See Squaw Peak Surgical Facility report dated May 22, 2007.


� See Dr. Yeung’s May 23, 2007 report.


� See Employee's May 25, 2007 petition.


� See Employee’s “Worker’s Compensation Claim” dated May 25, 2007.


� See Dr. Kropp's June 6, 2007 report.


� See Ms. Zobel's June 14, 2007 “Controversion Notice.”


� See Answer dated June 14, 2007.


� See Dr. Kropp July 3, 2007 report.


� See Dr. Kropp's August 28, 2007 report.


� See Dr. Bloss’ August 30, 2007 MRI report; SIME record 194.


� See Dr. Kropp’s September 19, 2007 referral.


� See Dr. Kanady’s October 2, 2007 patient information sheet.


� See SIME records 217 through 259. 


� See Dr. Kropp September 19, 2007 work release.


� See Dr. Kropp's November 5, 2007 report.


� Id.


� See Alaska Innovative Imaging report dated November 15, 2007.


� See Dr. Kropp’s November 20, 2007 report.


� See Employee’s SIME form dated May 25, 2007 November 19, 2007.


� See prehearing conference summary dated November 20,007.


� See Deborah Torgerson's letter dated January 4, 2008.


� See Dr. Schilperoort’s January 25, 2008 report at 4-5.  


� See Dr. McDermott's February 25, 2008 SIME report.


� Id.


� Id.


� See Mr. Croft’s January 16, 2008 “Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing.”


� See Dr. Kropp’s March 31, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Cohen’s May 15, 2008 report.


� See Alaska Regional Hospital medical reports beginning May 19, 2008.


� See Employee's “Opposition to Petition for Continuance” dated July 29, 2008.


� See Dr. McDermott's deposition transcript dated October 2, 2008.


� See affidavit of service with attachments dated September 11, 2008.


� We see no document in our file indicating how this rescheduling took place.


� See Dr. Bald’s September 11, 2008 report at 11.


� Id. at 11.


� Id. at 13.


� Id.


� Id. at 14.


� Id. at 14-15.


� Id. at 16.


� See Mr. Croft’s September 19, 2008 letter.


� See September 24, 2008 “Controversion Notice.”


� See Ms. Zobel's September 24, 2008 petition.


� The term “Smallwooded” is a short-hand referral to Commercial Union Insurance Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976), which discussed a party’s right to request cross-examination of a document’s author.  


� See “Requests for Cross-examination" dated September 25, 2008.


� See September 30, 2008 prehearing conference summary.


� See Mr. Cooper's October 8, 2008 letter.


� See Alcan's October 13, 2008 opposition to petition to join.  See Nixa v. Mammoth of Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 94-0154 (June 27, 1994); Truckweld v. Swenson Excavating, Inc., 649 P.2d 234 (Alaska 1982).


� See Mr. Cooper’s October 13, 2008 “Request for Cross-examination.”


� See October 16, 2008 prehearing conference summary.


� See hearing transcript at 42-43.


� See Alcan's October 10, 2008 “Report of Occupational Injury or Illness” attached to an affidavit of service dated October 20, 2008 and received in our file on October 22, 2008.


� See Alcan’s October 23, 2008 motion.


� See Employee's deposition at 10.


� Id. at 11.


� Id. at 12.


� Id. at 13-14.


� Id.


� Id. at 15.


� Id. at 16.


� Id. at 16-17.


� Id. at 17.


� Id. at 18-19.


� Id.


� Id. at 20.


� Id. at 20-21.


� Id. at 21-22.


� Id. at 22.


� Id. at 23.


� Id. at 24.


� Id.


� Id. at 25.


� Id. at 27-28.


� Id. at 29.


� Id. at 30.


� Id. at 31.


� Id. at 32.


� Id.


� Id. 33.


� Id. at 35.


� Id. at 36.


� Id. at 40-41.


� Id. at 42.


� Id. at 43-44.


� Id. at 44-45.


� Id. at 45-46.


� Id. at 40-49.


� Id. at 51-53.


� Id. at 53-54.


� Id. at 64-65.


� Id. at 65-66.


� See Dr. McDermott's deposition at 5.


� Id. at 7-8.


� Id. at 16.


� Id. at 17.


� Id. at 18


� Id. at 19.


� Id. at 26.


� Id. at 27.


� Id.


� Id. at 29.


� Id.


� Id. at 30.


� Id. at 31.


� Id.


� Id. at 32.


� Id. at 33.


� Id.


� Id. at 35.


� Id. at 36.


� Id. at 37.


� Id. at 43.


� Id. at 43.


� Id. at 44. 


� Id. at 48-50.


� Id. at 59.


� Dr. Bald’s deposition and 4-5.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 9-16.


� Id. at 18.


� Id. At 19.


� Id. at 19-20.


� Id. at 21-22.


� Id. at 22-23.


� Id. at 24.


� Id. at 25.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 30.


� Id. at 31-32.


� Id. at 33.


� Id. at 34.


� Id. at 36.


� Id. at 40.


� Id. at 40-41.


� Id. at 45.


� Id. at 46.


� Id. at 47.


� Id. at 49.


� “Based on the IME report of Dr. Douglas Bald, dated September 11, 2008, Mr. Hope’s work with Alcan Electric is the substantial factor in Mr. Hope’s need for surgeries.”  See September 24, 2008 “Controversion Notice.”  We further note that Redi’s initial controversions dated March 23, 2007 and June 14, 2007 were based upon Dr. Schilperoort’s EME; he provided a supplemental report dated January 25, 2008, which explains that his opinion is based on his belief that Employee suffered an injury with Alcan.  Thus, we find the sole reason for Redi’s current controversion is their last injurious exposure defense.


� We note Employee has never filed a claim against Alcan and shows no desire to do so.  We find he strongly believes Redi is responsible for his back injury.  Consequently, because Employee is not trying to enforce “a claim for compensation” against Alcan, we conclude AS 23.30.120 does not apply to this case at this time.  Therefore, we do not apply the presumption analysis that we would otherwise apply if Employee had filed his own claim against Alcan.  We simply note the evidence presented to us at hearing was sufficient to convince us that Alcan is a person against whom a right relief “may exist” and therefore, should be joined as a party.  By contrast, the employee in State of Alaska, Department of Corrections v. Dennis, AWCAC Decision No. 36 (March 27, 2007) had filed a claim against one employer and then joined another employer, thus bringing his claim for compensation against both employers.  See Dennis at 15-16.


� Sherrod v. Municipality of Anchorage, 803 P.2d 874 (Alaska 1990).  See also Barrington v. ACS, Slip Op. No. 6321 (October 24, 2008).


� See Hearing Transcript at 42.


� We note the Act contains other self-executing provisions such as §155(a).


� See hearing transcript at 42.


� AWCAC Decision No.  36 (March 27, 2007).


� Dennis at 7.


� AWCB Decision No. 99-0240, citing Apted v. Pacific Gradney, J.V., 3AN-93-1619 Civil (Alaska Super. Ct., August 11, 1993).


� AWCB Decision No. 03-0304 (December 19, 2003), reaffirmed in AWCB Decision No. 04-0045 (February 20, 2004).


� Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage (ATU), AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).  See also, Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing and Heating, AWCB Decision No. 91-0128 (May 2, 1991).


� AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).


� Lau v. Caterair International, AWCB Decision No. 00-0055 (March 24, 2000); Toskey v. Trailer Craft, AWCB Decision No. 97-0130 (June 12, 1997); Brosnan v. Peak Oilfield Service, AWCB Decision No. 00-0158 (July 21, 2000).


� AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008).


� AWCAC Decision No. 050 (January 25, 2007), at 8.


� Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp., AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008), at 4.  


� Id.


� See Dr. McDermott’s deposition at 60: “I don't think I can answer that because I'm getting confused now where we stand with all this.”


� We are not “requiring” Alcan to obtain an EME.  We simply give it time to obtain one should Alcan desire to do so.  AS 23.30.095(e).


� Id. “The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.”  See also 8 AAC 45.090(b).
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